1 **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

2
3 SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON,

4 Appellant,

5 v.

6 THE STATE OF NEVADA, *ex rel.*
7 DEPARTMENT OF TAXATION,

8 Respondent.

Supreme Court No. 67497

 Electronically Filed
APPELLANT'S BRIEF NOV 13 2015 02:56 p.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court

9
10 Appeal from the First Judicial District Court, Carson City

11 The Honorable James T. Russell

12 District Court Case No. 09-OC-00016-1B

13
14
15 Norman J. Azevedo
16 Nevada Bar No. 3204
17 405 North Nevada Street
18 Carson City, Nevada 89703
19 Telephone: (775) 883-7000

20 Charles C. Read
 Applying pro hac vice
 Haley McIntosh
 Nevada Bar No. 9442
 JONES DAY

I. INTRODUCTION

Appellant Southern California Edison Company (“SCE”) respectfully replies to the Answering Brief of Respondent Nevada Department of Taxation (“Department”). While the Department does not appeal the District Court’s conclusion that NRS 372.270 violates the Commerce Clause, the Department argues that SCE is not entitled to a refund of the use taxes it paid on coal. Such a result is inconsistent with SCE’s constitutional right to “meaningful backward-looking relief.” *McKesson Corp. v. Div. of Alcoholic Beverages & Tobacco*, 496 U.S. 18, 31 (1990). Being forced to pay use tax on out-of-state coal during the same time that an unconstitutional exemption was available for in-state minerals caused economic injury to SCE, and Nevada law mandates a refund as the exclusive remedy available for a taxpayer in SCE’s position.

SCE’s alternative claim that it is at a minimum entitled to a credit for the Transaction Privilege Tax (“TPT”) paid in Arizona merits this Court’s special attention because the Department’s position presents an entirely separate issue of unconstitutional burden on interstate commerce that has not been addressed by this Court. As the last section of this Reply demonstrates, the Department’s position relies heavily on the name of the TPT, in direct contradiction of the U.S. Supreme Court’s instruction to consider “not the formal language of the tax statute but rather its practical effect.” *Complete Auto Transit, Inc. v. Brady*, 430 U.S. 274, 279 (1977).

Throughout its Answering Brief, the Department sets forth irrelevant issues and seemingly attributes to SCE arguments that it has never made. SCE begins by responding to four of the Department’s most irrelevant and misleading arguments. First, the Department’s repeated references to the size of the refund at issue make clear that it does not have the law on its side. *See* Answering Brief at 1, 19, 20, 21. The amount at issue has nothing to do with the merits of a claim for refund. The U.S. Supreme Court has expressly declared that the cost to the State of a potential

1 refund is no justification for keeping it. *McKesson*, 496 U.S. at 51 n.35. The size
2 of SCE's refund claim is thus irrelevant in fashioning a proper remedy here.
3 Likewise, the economic effect the refund may have on the State provides no basis to
4 withhold it. *See id.* at 44-45 (a state's ability to enact procedural restrictions on
5 refund claims protects its ability to engage in sound fiscal planning). This is a
6 dispute involving a taxpayer who was subjected to an unconstitutional tax scheme.
7 Requiring the Department to return money it never should have collected in the first
8 place should not be a controversial decision.

9 Second, SCE has never argued that there are significant coal deposits or coal
10 mining in Nevada. *See* Answering Brief at 12. Nor is it claiming that Nevada taxes
11 the "sale of coal extracted from mines in Nevada more favorably than it does the
12 use or consumption of coal extracted from out-of-state." Answering Brief at 20, 21.
13 SCE is well-aware that at least one other taxpayer been taxed by the State on its use
14 of out-of-state coal in Nevada; the *Sierra Pacific* case is discussed extensively in
15 SCE's Opening Brief. *Sierra Pac. Power Co. v. State Dep't of Taxation*, 338 P.3d
16 1244 (Nev. 2014). The first argument in the Department's Answering Brief is that
17 NV Energy paid use tax on coal and SCE is a similarly situated taxpayer, so that it
18 would violate the Taxpayers Bill of Rights to refund use tax to SCE. Answering
19 Brief at 17-19. But nothing in the Bill of Rights justifies the continued denial of a
20 refund that is lawfully due. As set forth in its Opening Brief, SCE urges this Court
21 to reconsider its interpretation of *McKesson* in *Sierra Pacific*, but even if it does not,
22 SCE is entitled to a refund because the evidence from its de novo trial differs
23 significantly from that in *Sierra Pacific's* petition for judicial review.

24 Third, throughout its Answering Brief, the Department argues about the
25 nature of the coal purchased by SCE, including its "processing" and transportation,
26 and suggests that the statutes under which SCE seeks relief simply do not apply.
27 *See, e.g.*, Answering Brief at 7-12, 18-19, 23. But this issue is not on appeal and
28 not before this Court. While it is true that the District Court referred to the property

1 on which SCE paid use tax as “coal slurry product,” it did not “reach a decision on
2 whether the coal lost its identity when it became coal slurry with the application of
3 the transformation process.” JA, vol. II, pp. 259 (Finding of Fact 7) & 274
4 (Conclusion of Law 34). Accordingly, the Department’s arguments regarding the
5 nature of the coal are simply distractions to the issues on appeal and will not be
6 addressed in this Reply.

7 Finally, SCE does not argue that the imposition of Nevada’s use tax is *per se*
8 unconstitutional or beyond the taxing power of the State. *See* Answering Brief at
9 29, 33; *Great Am. Airways v. Nev. Tax Comm’n*, 705 P.2d 654 (Nev. 1985). It is
10 the Department’s failure to exempt out-of-state minerals that is unconstitutional.

11 For the reasons below and those set forth in SCE’s Opening Brief, the
12 Department’s arguments should be rejected and the District Court’s Decision
13 should be reversed.¹

14 **II. ARGUMENT**

15 **A. SCE Is Entitled to a Full Refund Under A Plain-Language** 16 **Reading of NRS 372.185(2) and NRS 372.270 and Interpreting** **These Statutes Together Avoids Constitutional Issues**

17 As discussed in SCE’s Opening Brief, this Court should interpret NRS
18 372.270 and NRS 372.185(2) to prohibit the Department from imposing use tax on
19 the importation of any mineral – including coal – that would be exempt from the
20 comparable sales tax if it were mined in Nevada. This approach would avoid the
21 constitutional problems created by the Department’s interpretation of NRS 372.270,
22 which fails to exempt out-of-state coal because no coal is mined in Nevada. *See*
23 Opening Brief at 9-11. In *Sierra Pacific*, this Court found that “the district court
24 did not err in striking NRS 372.270 in its entirety.” But striking the statute does not
25

26 ¹ SCE refers to the District Court’s Amended Findings of Fact, Conclusions
27 of Law, and Decision, dated December 17, 2014 (Joint Appendix (“JA”), vol. II, pp.
28 276-293) as its “Decision.”

1 remedy the unconstitutionality of Nevada’s mineral taxation scheme.² Without
2 NRS 372.270’s exemption, taxpayers today *would pay* use tax on out-of-state
3 minerals used in Nevada but *would not pay* sales tax on in-state minerals pursuant
4 to Article 10, Section 5 of the Nevada Constitution which prohibits the imposition
5 of sales or use tax “upon a mineral or its proceeds until the identity of the proceeds
6 as such is lost.” To avoid this constitutional violation, NRS 372.270 is necessary
7 and should be interpreted with NRS 372.185 to exempt both in-state and out-of-
8 state minerals from sales and use taxes. Accordingly, SCE is entitled to a full
9 refund of use tax paid on out-of-state coal.

10 The Department claims that NRS 372.185(2) “does not apply” to SCE
11 because the transfer of title to the coal and risk of loss occurred in Nevada and
12 therefore the sale occurred in Nevada. Answering Brief at 19. As discussed in
13 more detail below, contract formalities such as title and risk of loss are not the
14 exclusive determinants of where and if a sale occurs for tax purposes. Transfer of
15 possession of the coal occurred in Arizona, and both Arizona and Nevada define a
16 sale for tax purposes as occurring where there is a transfer of possession.³ The
17 Department’s argument of a Nevada sale is undermined by the fact that it assessed a
18 *use tax* pursuant to NRS 372.185 rather than a *sales tax*. It is far too late for the
19 Department now to argue it should have imposed a sales tax. *See* NRS 360.355. If
20 a use tax was wrongly imposed on SCE, that is a separate reason for a refund and
21 the Department neither refunded the use tax paid by SCE nor timely imposed a
22 sales tax deficiency.

24
25 ² Nor does simply striking the statute provide a sufficient remedy to
26 taxpayers injured by paying use tax on out-of-state minerals while an
27 unconstitutional exemption was available for in-state minerals. *See supra* Section
28 I(B)(4).

³ *Compare* NRS 372.060(1) *with* Ariz. Rev. Stat. 42.5001(14).

1 Ironically, the Department relies entirely on the “plain language” of the
2 statute for its position. *See* Answering Brief at 19. The statutory language in
3 question, however, states that use tax is imposed “with respect to all property which
4 was *acquired out of state* in a transaction that would have been a taxable sale if it
5 had occurred within this State.” NRS 372.185(2) (emphasis added). The statute’s
6 application is not, as the Department suggests, limited only to sale transactions
7 where title passed out-of-state. The legislature would have said so if that is what it
8 intended. This Court should not infer such intent absent any supporting evidence.
9 *See Worldcorp v. State, Dep’t of Taxation*, 944 P.2d 824, 826 (Nev. 1997) (“It is
10 well settled in Nevada that when statutory language is clear on its face, its intention
11 must be deduced from such language.”). There is no dispute that the coal in this
12 case originated from the Black Mesa mine in Arizona; thus it must be considered
13 property that SCE acquired out of state. NRS 372.185(2) requires nothing more.

14 The Department next argues that NRS 372.185(2) is not applicable because
15 coal is not mined in Nevada, and all sales of coal brought into the state are subject
16 to use tax. *See* Answering Brief at 19-20. But the existence of an actual in-state
17 coal mine is irrelevant to the plain language analysis.⁴ By conditioning the effect of
18 NRS 372.185(2) on the existence of in-state mines, the Department effectively
19 seeks an import tariff on out-of-state minerals and discriminates against interstate
20 commerce. That is unconstitutional regardless of whether a particular mineral is
21 produced in Nevada. *See* Opening Brief at 12-13, 17-19.

22 **B. SCE Is Entitled to a Full Refund Because NRS 372.270 As**
23 **Interpreted By the Department Violates The Commerce Clause**

24 If the Court does not adopt the plain-language reading of NRS 372.270 and
25 372.185(2) discussed above, the Court should hold that NRS 372.270’s mineral

26 ⁴ The Department’s argument ignores the hypothetical situation that *if* the
27 Black Mesa mine were located in Nevada and SCE were purchasing its coal for
28 Mohave, the coal would be exempt from sales tax under NRS 372.270.

1 exemption to Nevada's use tax violates the Commerce Clause and order a refund of
2 the use tax paid by SCE. The Department does not dispute the exemption's
3 unconstitutionality. *See, e.g.*, JA, vol. V, p. 1020; Answering Brief at 28. Instead,
4 its Answering Brief argues that SCE lacks standing and is entitled to no relief for its
5 payment of use tax pursuant to an unconstitutional tax scheme. Each of its
6 arguments must be rejected.

7 **1. SCE has standing to pursue its Commerce Clause claim**

8 The tax experts for both parties agreed that SCE has standing to pursue its
9 claims. Professor Richard Pomp testified that he has "never understood a taxpayer
10 not to have standing to challenge a tax that it's paid." Appellant's Supplemental
11 Appendix ("SA"), p. 1548:23-24. It is "pretty black-letter law," he said, "[y]ou pay
12 the tax, of course you have standing to challenge it." SA, p. 1549:14-15; *see also* 1
13 Laurence H. Tribe, *American Constitutional Law* § 3-17, at 421 (3d ed. 2000) ("A
14 taxpayer of course has standing to challenge the validity or application of a taxing
15 statute in determining his or her own tax obligation."). The Department's expert
16 Professor John Swain agreed, noting that "we get to challenge our taxes." SA, p.
17 1550:9-11. Nonetheless, the Department challenges SCE's standing. Even if
18 standing can be raised at any time, there are no new arguments or new facts to
19 consider. The Tax Commission and the District Court proceeded to decide the
20 merits of SCE's claims, as did this Court in *Sierra Pacific* with respect to NV
21 Energy's similar claims. *Sierra Pac.*, 338 P.3d at 1245.

22 As a predicate to judicial relief, Nevada courts require "an actual justiciable
23 controversy." *In re Amerco Derivative Litig.*, 252 P.3d 681, 694 (Nev. 2011)
24 (*citing Doe v. Bryan*, 728 P.2d 443, 444 (Nev. 1986) ("The issue of standing is
25 dispositive of this appeal...Nevada has a long history of requiring an actual
26 justiciable controversy as a predicate to judicial relief. Moreover, litigated matters
27 must present an existing controversy, not merely the prospect of a future
28 problem.")). The Department cites a mandamus case to argue that a "zone of

1 interests” test applies in this case. Answering Brief at 22-23 (citing *Heller v.*
2 *Legislature of the State of Nevada*, 120 Nev. 456, 461 n.3 (Nev. 2004)). In *Heller*,
3 this Court explained that to establish standing in a mandamus proceeding,
4 “petitioner must demonstrate a ‘beneficial interest’ in obtaining writ relief... . To
5 demonstrate a beneficial interest sufficient to pursue a mandamus action, a party
6 must show a direct and substantial interest that falls within the zone of interest to be
7 protected by the legal duty asserted.” *Id.* at 460-61 (internal citations omitted).
8 Whether or not this standard for establishing standing applies in non-mandamus
9 proceedings, SCE meets the test.

10 NRS 372.680 provides standing to file a refund action. There is no limitation
11 set forth in NRS 372.680 limiting the taxpayer’s standing to seek a refund other
12 than to bring the action after receiving a final decision from the Commission on the
13 taxpayer’s refund claim. *See also* NRS 372.700. SCE has standing to assert a
14 violation of the Commerce Clause which involves claims for refund of millions of
15 dollars of use tax *already paid* by SCE. The case presents an actual controversy for
16 resolution by this Court – not a speculative future problem. *See Worldcorp*, 944
17 P.2d at 828 (holding that taxpayers had standing to challenge a taxing scheme that
18 burdened interstate commerce by providing a direct commercial advantage to local
19 businesses over out-of-state businesses). Moreover, SCE seeks redress for a tax
20 scheme that discriminates against interstate commerce – nothing could be more
21 related to the purpose of the Commerce Clause. *See Camps Newfound/Owatonna*
22 *Inc. v. Town of Harrison*, 520 U.S. 564, 574 (1997) (finding that the Commerce
23 Clause applied to a claim that a statute discriminated against interstate commerce
24 by denying a property tax exemption to charitable institutions principally operated
25 for out-of-state residents). As such, the Court should reject the Department’s “zone
26 of interest” argument.

27 The Department also makes another attack on SCE’s standing, which, if
28 successful, would leave no one with the ability to challenge the constitutional

1 violation in this case. *See* Answering Brief at 24-25. It argues that SCE’s standing
2 must be analyzed from the perspective of Peabody Western Coal Company
3 (“Peabody”), the Arizona seller of the coal purchased by SCE. *Id.* It claims
4 Peabody lacks standing because it “had a requirements contract with SCE and had
5 no competitors for providing the primary fuel to Mohave.” *Id.* at 25. According to
6 the Department, that fact distinguishes this case from the discussion of standing in
7 *General Motors Corp. v. Tracy*, 519 U.S. 278 (1997) and *Bacchus Imports, Ltd. v.*
8 *Dias*, 468 U.S. 263 (1984). But contrary to the Department’s arguments, these
9 cases support a finding of standing in this case. In *Bacchus*, the U.S. Supreme
10 Court explained:

11 The State presents a claim not made below that the
12 wholesalers have no standing to challenge the tax because
13 they have shown no economic injury from the claimed
14 discriminatory tax. The wholesalers are, however, liable
15 for the tax. Although they may pass it on to their
16 customers, and attempt to do so, they must return the tax
17 to the State whether or not their customers pay their bills.
18 Furthermore, even if the tax is completely and
19 successfully passed on, it increases the price of their
20 products as compared to the exempted beverages, and the
21 wholesalers are surely entitled to litigate whether the
22 discriminatory tax has had an adverse competitive impact
23 on their business. The wholesalers plainly have standing
24 to challenge the tax in this Court.

19 468 U.S. at 267; *see also General Motors*, 519 U.S. at 286-87 (adopting its
20 reasoning in *Bacchus* to find that the plaintiff had standing). No matter
21 whether considered from the perspective of SCE or Peabody, the use tax
22 imposed by the Department increased the cost of the coal. Thus, even
23 standing in Peabody’s shoes, SCE “plainly [has] standing to challenge the tax
24 in this Court.”

1 **2. SCE’s right to a refund is not contingent upon showing a**
2 **specific “favored competitor” in this case**

3 As set forth in its Opening Brief, SCE respectfully requests the Court
4 reconsider its interpretation of *McKesson* and find that SCE is entitled to a refund
5 of the use tax paid on its coal purchases without regard to the actual competitive
6 effects of Nevada’s unconstitutional mineral taxation scheme. *McKesson*, 496 U.S.
7 at 48 (“The [unconstitutional] tax injured petitioner...because it left petitioner
8 poorer in an absolute sense than before...”); *United States v. Windsor*, __ U.S. __,
9 133 S. Ct. 2675, 2684-85 (2013) (““being forced to pay [an unconstitutional] tax
10 causes a real and immediate economic injury to the individual taxpayer”” and
11 petitioner “suffered a redressable injury when she was required to pay ... taxes
12 from which...she was exempt...” (internal citation omitted); *see also* Opening
13 Brief at 13-19.

14 The Department cites a handful of cases that purportedly support its position
15 that a showing of actual discrimination is required under *McKesson*, but none
16 require a taxpayer to prove the existence of an advantaged competitor to obtain a
17 refund. Most of the Department’s cited cases involve determinations regarding the
18 *constitutionality* of taxes, not remedy issues. The District Court in this case
19 concluded that NRS 372.270 “is unconstitutional and in violation of the Dormant
20 Commerce Clause.” JA, vol. II, pp. 286 (Conclusion of Law 26). The Department
21 did not appeal. Accordingly, it is the *remedy* and not the Commerce Clause
22 violation itself at issue.

23 The “*Vulcan Lands* cases” do involve remedies, and the Department attempts
24 to distinguish them from SCE’s case for good reason. *See* Answering Brief at 27-
25 28. Indeed, that line of cases is highly instructive here. It begins with *South*
26 *Central Bell Telephone Co. v. Alabama*, 526 U.S. 160 (1999), where the U.S.
27 Supreme Court declared Alabama’s franchise tax on foreign corporations facially
28 discriminatory and thus unconstitutional. The Court reasoned that:

1 Alabama law gives domestic corporations the ability to
2 reduce their franchise tax liability simply by reducing the
3 par value of their stock, while it denies foreign corporations
4 that same ability. And no one claims that the different tax
5 rates for foreign and domestic corporations offset the
6 difference in the tax base. The tax therefore facially
7 discriminates against interstate commerce and is
8 unconstitutional unless the State can offer a sufficient
9 justification for it.

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