Electronically Filed Oct 14 2015 02:19 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case No. 67497

District Court No.: 09 OC 00016 1B (First Judicial District Court of Nevada)

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF TAXATION,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Attorneys for Respondents

ADAM PAUL LAXALT Nevada Attorney General Nevada Bar No. 12426 GINA C. SESSION Chief Deputy Attorney General Nevada Bar No. 5493 ANDREA NICHOLS Senior Deputy Attorney General Nevada Bar No. 6436 100 N. Carson Street Carson City, Nevada 89710-4717 Phone: 775-684-1207 Fax: 775-684-1156

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

Id. at 286 (citing Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560-561 (1992)).

Even though the Court found that GM had standing, ultimately they decided there

was no violation of the dormant Commerce Clause and that GM was not entitled to relief. *Id.* at 312.

The facts of this case, however, are distinguishable from *Bacchus* and General Motors in that the out-of-state entity allegedly discriminated against, Peabody, had literally no competitors in Nevada. As established at trial, Peabody had a requirements contract with SCE and had no competitors for providing the primary fuel to Mohave. Further, unlike in Bacchus and General Motors where there was at least evidence of in-state producers of alcohol and natural gas receiving beneficial tax treatment, there are no such in-state coal producers in Nevada. As the United States Supreme Court noted in *General Motors*: "...in the absence of actual or prospective competition between the supposedly favored and disfavored entities in a single market there can be no local preference, whether by express discrimination against interstate commerce or undue burden upon it, to which the dormant Commerce Clause may apply." Id. at 300. Thus, Peabody also lacks standing and therefore SCE cannot establish standing by stepping into the place of Peabody.

2. Contrary to SCE's Arguments, in Order to be Entitled to a Refund for a Violation of the Dormant Commerce Clause a Taxpayer Must Prove Actual Injury.

As noted by this Court in the *Sierra Pacific* case, "a refund is generally not merited when there has been no actual injury." *Sierra Pacific*, 338 P.3d at 1249

(citing *McKesson Corp. v. Florida*, 496 U.S. 18, 31 (1990). A taxpayer claiming a refund has the burden of showing an "injurious discrimination against them," and that "whatever distinction there existed in form, there was any substantial discrimination in fact." *Gregg Dyeing Co. v. Query*, 286 U.S. 472, 481-82 (1932). The United States Supreme Court wrote in the *Associated Industries* case:

... [W]e have never deemed a hypothetical possibility of favoritism to constitute discrimination that transgresses constitutional commands. On the contrary, we repeatedly have focused our Commerce Clause analysis on whether a challenged scheme is discriminatory in 'effect' ... and we have emphasized that 'equality for the purposes of . . . commerce is measured in dollars and cents, not legal abstractions.'

Associated Industries v. Lohman, 511 U.S. 641, 654 (1994) (quoting Halliburton Oil Well Cementing Co. v. Reilly, 373 U.S. 64, 70 (1963)), (internal citation omitted). Finally, the Hellerstein treatise states, in its introduction to the dormant Commerce Clause, "In the Court's view, its contemporary Commerce Clause state tax jurisprudence is grounded in 'economic realities', wedded to 'pragmatism', disdainful of 'formalism' and contemptuous of 'magic words and labels.'" Hellerstein, State Taxation, ¶ 412[1] (3d ed. 2013). SCE's entire dormant Commerce Clause argument is made up of legal abstractions, formalism, and magic words.

All of the cases cited by SCE for the proposition that there is no need to prove harm or identify competitors in order to challenge a facially discriminatory tax statute are cases where the remedy sought is declaratory or injunctive relief or the statute at issue imposes a tax. None of the cases stand for the proposition that there is no requirement to prove harm or actual discrimination in order to be entitled to a multi-million dollar refund. *See Armco v. Hardesty*, 467 U.S. 638 (1984) (striking wholesale gross receipts tax); *New Energy Co. v. Limbach*, 486 U.S. 269 (1988) (out-of-state ethanol producer sought to enjoin implementation of Ohio statute providing tax credit for ethanol producers); and, *Healy v. Beer Institute*, 491 U.S. 324 (1989) (taxpayer seeks declaratory and injunctive relief based on facially discriminatory beer-price-affirmation statute).

The facts in this case are distinguishable from the facts in the *Vulcan Lands* cases frequently cited by SCE. *Vulcan Lands v. Surtees*, 6 So.3d 1148 (Ala. App. 2007); *Ex parte Surtees*, 6 So.3d 1157 (Ala. 2008). In the case of *Vulcan Lands*, the United States Supreme Court in *South Central Bell Telephone Co. v. Alabama*, 526 U.S. 160 (1999), had already made a determination that the franchise tax assessed against all foreign corporations was discriminatory. As Vulcan Lands was in the class of taxpayers injured by the assessment of the franchise tax, the issue was the amount of damages. The Alabama Department of Revenue denied a refund because Vulcan Lands had not identified a domestic corporation that mirrored Vulcan Lands. The Alabama Supreme Court held Vulcan Land was not required to identify a "mirror image" domestic taxpayer. *Ex parte Surtees*, 6 So.3d at 1163. The Court held that the Department of Revenue must refund to Vulcan

the difference between the franchise tax a foreign corporation paid as compared to a favored domestic corporation. *Id*.

The use tax paid by SCE is not a tax that discriminates against a class of taxpayers. By virtue of the *South Central Bell Telephone* case, Vulcan Lands had already established that they had suffered harm and had identified taxpayers that benefitted as a result of the tax scheme. Here the State is not requiring SCE to identify a "mirror image" domestic taxpayer; the State is affirmatively stating that SCE has not suffered any discrimination based on the existence of the exemption in NRS 372.270.

SCE has never been able to find an evidentiary bridge over the gap between identifying the mere existence of a facially discriminatory exemption statute and proving how it was actually harmed in a way that entitles it to a multi-million dollar refund.

3. SCE was not Harmed by the Exemption in NRS 372.270 or by Paying the Constitutional Use Tax that was Actually Assessed.

This Court in *Sierra Pacific* wrote that NV Energy:

...failed to show that the tax, as actually assessed, discriminates against interstate commerce. Specifically, NV Energy did not pay any higher tax than did its competitors—all paid the same tax. No competitor gained a competitive advantage under the discriminatory tax scheme, nor did NV Energy suffer any actual disadvantage. And, although the exemption to the use tax violates the dormant Commerce Clause, the use tax itself is not unconstitutional.

Sierra Pacific v. State Department of Taxation at 1249.

The same analysis applies to SCE. In *Great American Airways v. Nevada State Tax Comm'n.*, 101 Nev. 422, 705 P.2d 654 (1985), this Court specifically found that the imposition of use tax pursuant to NRS 372.185 does not violate the dormant Commerce Clause since the tax, "treats intrastate and interstate businesses equally making no distinction between them." *Id* at 428, 658. (quoting *Chicago Bridge & Iron v. State Dept. of Rev.*, 98 Wash.2d 814, 659 P.2d 463, 472 (1983)). The Court recognized that the function of the use tax is to act as a complimentary tax to the sales tax and is a constitutional means to prevent a taxpayer from evading state sales tax. *Id*. The use tax collected by the Department on the coal slurry product purchased by SCE was not illegally collected or computed and it was not beyond the taxing power of the State.

SCE's expert, Dr. Jurewitz, gave testimony regarding economic harm that was entirely predicated on the theory that SCE paid an illegal tax.⁹¹ The Department's expert witness, Dr. McCann, responded in detail in his report why SCE did not suffer any harm as a result of the exemption in NRS 372.270 or its payment of a constitutional use tax.⁹² Dr. McCann also provided a road map demonstrating how SCE could have proven it was at a competitive disadvantage and suffered injury in comparison to other generators of energy if that were the case.

⁹¹ JA Vol. VII, p. 1328, ll. 9-12.

⁹² SA pp. 1485-1491.

As noted in the Statement of Facts, the district court made a factual finding that SCE did not suffer any injury as a result of the exemption in NRS 372.270 that would entitle it to retroactive relief. Even though there was conflicting evidence provided by the experts in this case, the district courts finding is not clearly erroneous and is supported by substantial evidence in the record and should be upheld by this Court.

4. The Discrimination Prong of the Complete Auto Test Requires Identification of Market Competitors that Benefitted From the Exemption in NRS 372.270 to Prove Discrimination.

SCE's claim that it does not have to identify a favored competitor is a misstatement of Commerce Clause jurisprudence. The United States Supreme Court has identified the fundamental objective of the dormant Commerce Clause as "preserving a national market for competition undisturbed by preferential advantages conferred by a State upon its residents or resident competitors." *Gen. Motors Corp. v. Tracy*, 519 U.S. 278, 299 (1997). The Court wrote:

Thus, in the absence of actual or prospective competition between the supposedly favored and disfavored entities in a single market there can be no local preference whether by express discrimination against interstate commerce or undue burden upon it, to which the dormant Commerce Clause may apply. The dormant Commerce Clause protects markets and participants in markets, not taxpayers as such.

Id. at 300.

a. The Market in this Case is the Coal Market not the Power or Fuel Market.

In Footnote 7 in the Sierra Pacific decision, this Court wrote:

For a dormant Commerce Clause violation to exist, the claimed discrimination must create a competitive advantage between the 'substantial similar entities."...However, competitive markets are generally narrowly drawn.

Sierra Pacific, --- Nev. ---, n.7, 338 P.3d at 1249, n.7 (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

The notion of favored and disfavored market competitors is central to dormant Commerce Clause jurisprudence. *See, e.g., State of Alaska v. Arctic Maid,* 366 U.S. 199, 204 (1961) ("When we look at the tax laid on local canners and those laid on 'freezer ships,' there is no discrimination in favor of the former and against the latter."); *Halliburton Oil Well Cementing Co. v. Reilly,* 373 U.S. 64, 73-74 (1963) ("The effect of the tax is to favor local users who wish to dispose of equipment over out-of-state users similarly situated."); *Bacchus Imports v. Dias,* 468 U.S. 263, 273 (1984) ("Virtually every discriminatory statute allocates benefits or burdens unequally; each can be viewed as conferring a benefit on one party and a detriment on the other . . ."). In *Bacchus,* the Court also recognized that the market competitors can not only be taxpayers, but also goods. *Id.* at 268-269.

General Motors is factually similar to the current case in that it involved the fuel (natural gas) purchased by General Motors from out-of-state and how it was taxed compared to regulated natural gas produced within the state. The relevant market in that case was the natural gas market, not the motor vehicle market that

General Motor participates in. In fact the United States Supreme Court further narrowed the definition of the market to distinguish between regulated natural gas and un-regulated natural gas and determined the products served different markets and so there was no dormant Commerce Clause violation in that case. *Id.* at 301-03.

The market in this case is the coal market. As noted above, SCE's Second Claim for Relief alleged that Nevada favored coal extracted in Nevada. Because SCE now knows it cannot prevail in any argument that involves the coal market, it tries to say it is about the Western Grid power market, or the "fuel market", including geothermal, natural gas and oil.⁹³ In fact, SCE is not really clear what market is at issue in this case. SCE does not even try to explain, in dormant Commerce Clause terms, how its alleged disadvantages competing in the Western Grid have any relevance at all.

This case is about goods, specifically coal. SCE alleged the Department is discriminating against coal mined outside of Nevada as compared to coal mined in Nevada.⁹⁴ Thus, in order to prove a violation of the Commerce Clause, SCE must

⁹³ Even if you accept that the market is the power market or the "fuels market" SCE still failed to prove it suffered any actual injury as a result of the exemption in NRS 372.270.

⁹⁴ The Department still maintains that SCE purchased a coal slurry product, not raw coal. For the purpose of the market competitor argument, however, we identify the goods in this case as coal.

show that coal mined in Nevada was sold at retail and was not subject to sales or use tax because of the exemption in NRS 372.270; and that it cannot do.

5. SCE did not Allege and Cannot Prove that the Use Tax it Actually Paid Violated the Internal Consistency Test or was an Illegal Tariff.

SCE now alleges this case is also about the apportionment prong of the *Complete Auto* test, even though the Second Amended Complaint only alleged discrimination.⁹⁵ Further the Second Amended Complaint made no mention of an illegal tariff. As noted above, the Nevada Supreme Court applied the *Complete Auto* test specifically to the use tax imposed by NRS 372.185 and found that Nevada's use tax is properly apportioned, does not discriminate, and is fairly related to services provided by the State. *Great American Airways v. Nevada State Tax Commission*, 101 Nev. 422 (1985).

Ironically, SCE's expert witness, Professor Richard Pomp, wrote an article that it cites in its Opening Brief that explained in detail why the internal consistency test does not apply to a garden-variety sales tax. The same analysis applies to the use tax paid by SCE on these transactions that took place in Nevada. In the article, Professor Pomp writes:

...from a practical standpoint, Oklahoma's levy closely resembled the 'garden-variety sales tax' on tangible personal property that the Court had 'perennially sustained, *even though levied on goods that have traveled in interstate commerce to the point of sale*

⁹⁵ JA Vol. 1, p.112, ll. 9-12, Appellant's Opening Brief, p. 12, l. 14.

or that will move across state lines thereafter.' Just as a state may impose a tax on the local sale of goods measured by their full sales price even though the price reflects value added outside the state, so it might seem that a state may impose a tax on the local sale of services measured by their full sales price even though the price reflects value added outside the state.

Hellerstein, McIntyre, Pomp, Commerce Clause Restraints on State Taxation after

Jefferson Lines. 51 Tax Law Review 47, 54 (Fall, 1995) (emphasis added).

The article, quoting the *Jefferson Lines* case, explains that there can be no internal or external inconsistency with a tax on a sales transaction because the "very conception of the common sales tax on goods, operating on the transfer of ownership and possession at a particular time and place, insulated the buyer from any threat of further taxation of the transaction." *Id.* at p. 58. The use tax was paid by SCE on the price of the coal slurry product in Nevada at the point where transfer of title and risk of loss took place. There simply is no internal consistency issue, and no violation of the apportionment prong of the *Complete Auto* test.

For argument's sake, even if the use tax paid by SCE in combination with the exemption in NRS 372.270 somehow fails the internal consistency test, SCE still has not provided any evidence it has been injured and it still does not have standing to bring suit pursuant to the dormant Commerce Clause. The Alaska Supreme Court in the *Tesoro* case concluded:

[b]ecause Tesoro has not demonstrated it has suffered any harm as a result of the alleged internal inconsistency, it has failed to establish its standing in this case. We do not see why a taxpayer should be excused from application of a tax scheme whose alleged internal inconsistency results in no-less-favorable tax treatment than would have resulted from a consistent scheme.

Tesoro Corporation v. State of Alaska, Department of Revenue, 312 P.3d 830, 846 (2013) (cert. denied). Again, SCE has failed to show that "whatever distinction there existed in form, there was substantial discrimination in fact." *Gregg Dyeing,* 286 U.S. at 481-482.

Similarly, the illegal tariff argument was not raised in a timely fashion and does not apply to Nevada's sales and use tax. There is nothing to suggest that Nevada is assessing use tax in order to protect a Nevada coal market. When a tax is meant to protect or promote a local product, the local market is apparent.

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